1956

Geraldine Huggins v. N. Frederick Hicken : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal from the Order of the lower Court setting aside a verdict of the jury for the Plaintiff and dismissing the action.

Many of the facts are disputed. However, since they are to be considered in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, they will be set out in that manner:

The Appellant, an unmarried female of the age of 31 years, first consulted Appellee, Doctor N. F. Hicken, a practicing physician and surgeon in Salt Lake City, Utah, on July 26, 1954, regarding a complaint of severe pain in the upper part of her chest area. Appellant first experienced pain after eating

Mexican food while traveling in Old Mexico with her cousin, Alta Huggins, who was studying nursing at the L. D. S. Hospital. Late in the afternoon of the the day following the trip to Mexico, Appellant went to the office of Dr. Hicken. Appellant consulted with Dr. Hicken, but he did not examine her. (Record 58). However, Dr. Neel Huckleberry was called in for consultation. Kidney studies were made by Dr. Huckleberry the following day, and on July 28th, Appellant returned for gall bladder studies, and it was concluded that she was suffering from a non-functioning gall bladder. She was so advised by Dr. Hicken. On that day he recommended surgery for the removal of the gall bladder. Appellant stated that she did not feel well enough to undergo surgery, and couldn't afford it. (Record 63) Dr. Hicken advised her that her gall bladder condition was acute. (Record 63).

From the time Appellant first went to Appellee's office, on July 26th, until July 28th, when she was advised to have her gall bladder removed, Dr. Hicken made no examinations, personally, of the Appellant. (Record 63).

Appellant was admitted to the L. D. S. Hospital in Salt Lake City, on July 31, 1954, as a patient of Dr. Hicken, for the purpose of having her gall bladder removed by him. An intern made an examination of Appellant on the day of admission. (Record 67). Appellant saw Dr. Hicken only once after admission to the Hospital and prior to surgery. (Record 69), and she testified that he did not examine her on any occasion prior to surgery. (Record 70).

On August 2nd, she was taken to surgery and there were present Dr. Hicken, Dr. A. J. McAllister, Dr. Clayton, a resident at the L. D. S. Hospital, and Dr. Calvin Buhler, an intern at the L. D. S. Hospital. Dr. Hicken opened the incision and excised the gall bladder, put it in a pan and then left the operating room as soon as the gall bladder was removed. (Record 184). Alta Huggins, Appellant's cousin, who was in the operating room observing, was called out in the hall by Dr. Hicken who then advised Alta that Appellant was a hypochondriac and that Alta should not listen too much to her aches and pains, and that in connection with the operation, Dr. Hicken had also freed Appellant's uterus. (Record 184). Dr. Hicken did not return to the operating room after he removed the gall bladder, (Record 184), and the resident and the intern closed the incision. (Record 185).

Dr. Hicken testified that immediately following, and for some time after upper abdominal surgery, such as gall bladder operations, it is necessary to turn, cough and to induce deep breathing to prevent the onset of pulmonary complications. Dr. Hicken testified that abdominal muscles normally are used to breathe with, and that after an operation where these are cut, abdominal or belly muscles are used to get the air in and out (Record 51). "When we hurt we don't take a deep breath, . . . and the fact after an operation you get a limitation naturally of the amount of air going in. There is part of the lung that does not expand. Well, if the lung doesn't expand and the air in these little air sacs in the lungs is absorbed, then the little air sacs keep coming closer and closer together

until we get hyperexhalation, we get a smaller amount of air going in and out of these little linings to keep them from expanding. It's possible, if this condition goes on long enough these little sacs may collapse because all of the air has been absorbed by the blood stream and they come together. That is what we call a collapsed lung, and the purpose of deep breathing and making the patient turn over in bed is just for the express purpose of getting fresh air down in these sacs that have not been used in ordinary respiration." (Record 51-52). Dr. Hicken testified that he was familiar with the standard of care which physicians in this community render to their patients following upper abdominal surgery. (Record 39). He testified that there were standing rules. "The patient is turned every two hours." "The patient is encouraged to cough." (Record 39-40). He testified that this rule of having the patient turned and deep breathed every two hours, following upper abdominal surgery, was the standard in force in this community August 19, 1954 (Record 40 and 42); and that the two hour period is routine procedure at the L. D. S. Hospital.

The most critical period following upper abdominal surgery is when the patient is under sedation, and gall bladder surgery requires considerable sedatives for pain "because you are working high," (Record 50) and also because when the patient first returns from surgery, they are still under the effects of the anesthetic. (Record 216).

The hospital records show that the Appellant returned from surgery at 3:25 P.M. on August 2nd.

The first indication that Appellant was turned is a note made at 11:00 P.M. of the same day. (Exhibit 21 P, pages 23-24). This is corroborated by Alta Huggins who was with Appellant from the time she returned from surgery until around midnight, and she wasn't turned until about 11:00 o'clock that night (Record 186); and that in all that time, no one came in and attempted to deep breathe Appellant, nor to induce coughing.

The next record of Appellant having been turned was at 12:15 P.M. on August 3rd. (Exhibit 21 P., 23).

The record shows at 8:15 A.M., on August 4, Appellant was bathed. (Exhibit 21 P.23).

The next note appears at 12:00 midnight August 4th when Appellant was turned on left side, and at 1:10 A.M., August 5th, the Record shows that Dr. Clayton visited and patient was turned and deep breathed. (Exhibit 21 P. 24).

On August 3rd, the day following surgery, Appellant began running a high temperature. (Temperature Chart, Exhibit 21 P.).

On August 4th, Appellant began to feel pain up in the shoulder area, in a different location from where the operation was performed, and it became difficult for her to breathe. (Record 75).

In the afternoon of August 4th, Nurse Betty Harman noticed Appellant had an ash gray color and she had very labored breathing. (Record 238) The duty Nurse, later in the day, advised Nurse Harman that Appellant was very ill. (Record 240).

Alta Huggins, who was a registered nurse at the time of the trial testified that she saw Appellant about

4:45 p.m. on August 4th and observed that Appellant was very dusky and that her finger nails were blue. (Record 187). Alta took Appellant's pulse and found it to be 140 then, and her respiration was very shallow and labored. (Record 187). Alta advised Mrs. Briggs, the duty nurse, to call an intern and have someone look at her. Dr. Buhler, the intern came about 15 or 20 minutes later, and when asked by Alta if there was something wrong with Appellant's chest, if she might have atelectasis, and "he said he would make that diagnosis right then" (Record 188). Appellant's condition did not improve, so about 7:00 P.M., Alta went out to the duty nurse and asked that Dr. Hicken be called, which was done. (Record 189). Dr. Hicken did not come, but Dr. McAllister came about 10:00 P.M. A steam tent was put up and oxygen was started. (Record 189).

Dr. McAllister asked her to cough, and asked Appellant if she knew what atelectasis was, which he stated was a collapsed lung. (Record 76), and advised Appellant, "you will never be this sick again as long as you live." (Record 76).

At about 5:20 P.M. of the same day, the intern examined Appellant and found a temperature of 103°, pulse of 154 and with a gallop rythm in the heart, with breath sounds at the right base slightly lower. (Exhibit 21 P., page 17). Dr. McAllister made a clinical diagnosis of atelectasis. (Exhibit 21 P. page 17.) Low in the right side he was unable to hear any breath sounds. (R 289, 290).

Dr. Ed Scott, Anestheologist in surgery was called in to aspirate Appellant at 7:00 A.M. on August 5th, which was done, with fair results. De-

creased breath sounds in the right lower chest were noted by Dr. Scott. (Exhibit 21 P. page 18).

On August 5th, Appellant's pulse decreased from 152 to 120, breath sounds were still reduced and there was dullness in the right, lower quadrant of the chest. (Exhibit 21 P., page 18).

From the 5th of August until the date of discharge, on August 13th, Appellant suffered constant chest pain, and difficulty in breathing. (Record 78, page 82-3), which she reported to the nurses and to the medical visitors.

An X-Ray of Appellant's chest was taken on August 6th, and it was the opinion of the Radiologist that the right side of the diaphragm was very slightly more elevated than usual and the lower position of the right lung was slightly hypoariated, probably as a result of shallow respiration, rather than actual atelectasis. (Exhibit 21 P., page 8).

Appellant felt ill the day of discharge. (Record 86.)

Appellant was discharged from the hospital and taken to the home of her sister, Mrs. Betty Harman, a registered nurse, who lives in Granger, Utah.

From August 13th, Appellant suffered severe pain in the chest area, together with vomiting, and reported it to her sister, Mrs. Harman, and her cousin, Alta. (Record 133). The pain in the chest area increased. Calls were made every day, from the 13th of August to the 20th of August to the office of Dr. Hicken. (Record 245).

On the 14th of August, Alta Huggins called Dr. Hicken about Appellant's condition and advised him

that she was complaining of severe pain in her chest and suggested that there might be some infection, or that the atelectasis Appellant had in the hospital might still be bothering her, and was advised that it was gas, and to make Appellant walk, and that Alta was a dumb student nurse who didn't know everything. (Record 199).

Appellant, herself, called Dr. Hicken on the 15th of August and advised him of a terrific amount of pain in her upper chest and that she was vomiting and that she had been vomiting since she left the hospital and asked if there were any way he could see her, or if there were some way he could help her. He advised a medication to empty her bowels and also to take fruit juices and to keep eating to see if the nausea might not be helped. (Record 133-34) Dr. Hicken further advised her that the pain was associated with gall bladder operation. (Record 134).

In response to the call by Nurse Harman, on the 16th, and upon being advised how very ill Appellant was, and about having a pain in her right chest area, Dr. Hicken asked if Appellant could be brought into the office. Nurse Harman advised that she was too ill. Dr. Hicken was asked by Nurse Harman if he could make a trip out there. He answered that it was too far. (Record 242).

In response to a call to Dr. Hicken's office on the 17th of August, Dr. McAllister came out to Granger on the 17th and checked Appellant. When asked if it could possibly be her lungs, he said "no, pleurisy" and then prescribed steam and medication. (Record 243). He further advised Nurse Harman

to get Appellant up, walk her around and get her out in the yard. (Record 243). Dr. McAllister stated that he never found at any time that appellant wouldn't do as she was asked, or that she didn't try in every way to cooperate. (Record 297).

Dr. Hicken was called by Nurse Harman on the 18th of August and was told that Appellant seemed to get little relief from pain and that Appellant was still very ill and that Nurse Harman was worried and thought there should be some kind of help, but did not know what else to do. Dr. Hicken advised that she just keep doing what he told them to do. (Record 243).

On the 19th of August, Appellant called Dr. Hicken's office and talked with Dr. McAllister, advising him that she wasn't any better and felt like that she just couldn't go on any more (Record 136) and asked him to come out to Granger, and Dr. McAllister advised her that he said that he had been there previously and that he felt that she had pleurisy and for Appellant to continue instructions with steam and medication. (Record 137).

Appellant then called her parents in Wyoming and advised them that she didn't feel like she could hang on much longer and to come and get her and take her some place where she could get some care. (Record 137).

Dr. Hicken did not see Appellant from the date of discharge, on August 13th, until August 20th.

Appellant's parents arrived on the morning of the 20th to see if they couldn't get Appellant in the care of the family physician at home, Dr. E. W. Mc-

Namara, of Rawlins, Wyoming, and Appellant advised them that because of the long ride, Dr. Hicken's office should be called to get medication for pain, and were advised that he was in the operating room at the L.D.S. Hospital. Appellant's parents, together with Alta, took Appellant to the L.D.S. Hospital where Appellant advised Dr. Hicken again of the terrific pain in her chest, that she had been vomiting for eight days and nights and Dr. Hicken inquired why she hadn't come into the office. Appellant advised him she had been too ill to come to the office. Appellant's temperature was taken at the Hospital and was found to be 102°, which was reported to Dr. Hicken. (Record 197). Appellant reported the pain in her chest to Dr. Hicken. Dr. Hicken advised her parents that she was addicted to drugs. (Record 198).

On August 20th, Appellant was no longer in the care of Dr. Hicken. (Record 139).

Appellant's testimony was that Dr. Hicken never personally examined her prior to admission to the hospital, nor during her stay in the hospital, nor at any time thereafter. (Record 140).

Dr. Hicken did not object to Appellant's parents taking her home, (Record 232) when he saw them on the 20th of August and did not advise them that she should enter the hospital. (Record 232).

Appellant was taken in the back seat of her automobile to Rawlins, Wyoming on August 20th by her parents. She was very nauseated and vomited very often. (Record 232).

During the early morning of the 21st of August,

Appellant was very ill and Dr. E. W. McNamara was called and came to attend Appellant. (Record 233).

On the 21st of August, Appellant was admitted to the Carbon County Memorial Hospital in Rawlins, Wyoming under the care of Dr .McNamara.

Appellant was complaining of pain in the right side of her chest and was experiencing difficulty in breathing, (Record 235 and 144) on the 21st, 22nd and 23rd of August. She experienced extreme difficulty in breathing three or four days after she was admitted to the hospital. (Record 144) and each day thereafter that Appellant was in the hospital, the pain diminished in her chest. (Record 146).

Appellant was in the Memorial Hospital ~~and~~^{at} Rawlins for 33 days, being discharged on September 24, 1954. (Record 141). Appellant also engaged the services of Dr. A. E. Cashman while a patient at the Rawlins Memorial Hospital.

Appellant's bill for hospitalization in the Rawlins Memorial Hospital was \$809.55. Dr. E. W. McNamara's charges were \$215.00 Dr. A. E. Cashman's charges were \$55.00. All three bills were admitted into evidence. (Record 146).

X-Rays showing condition of Appellant's chest while in the Memorial Hospital, covering a period from August 23, 1954 to September 11, 1954, were received in evidence, (Exhibit 7 P, through and including 16 P.) which, prior to their being received and in the absence of the jury were interpreted by Dr. William Rummell as showing a very gross opacity throughout the major part of the right lung field,

and which, even to a lay man, showed an abnormality to the right lung. The X-Ray Technician, Henry Arnold, said that all during the time that he took the X-Ray pictures of the Appellant, she appeared ill on each occasion, (Record 273) and appeared to have difficulty in breathing. (Record 272).

Mrs. Betty Harman saw Appellant while in the Memorial Hospital at Rawlins and observed that Appellant's breathing was shallow and she was still having oxygen. (Record 245).

About a week after Appellant was admitted to the Memorial Hospital in Rawlins, Alta Huggins visited with her for the period of a week. (Record 199). Every day that Alta saw Appellant she observed that Appellant's breathing was shallow and rapid and her pulse rapid, and that she had difficulty in breathing. (Record 200). She had "poor color," which was "kind of grey," and complained of pain in her right chest. (Record 200).

Appellant was invalided because of pulmonary complications for approximately eight months after her discharge from the Memorial Hospital at Rawlins, (Record 147) and went to work on a part-time basis for nine months. (Record 147). During this period, Appellant had difficulty breathing and became very easily over exerted. (Record 148).

Appellant claimed a loss in earnings as an insurance agent for the eight months she was unable to work, in the amount of \$200.00 per month and she claimed a loss of earning capacity of \$100.00 per month during the period of nine months of partial activity. (Record 150).

The Appellant was examined by Dr. William E. Rummell, chest expert, on June 13, 1955, in his office in Salt Lake City. (Record 88-89). The only abnormality, based upon physical examination and the fluoroscopic studies, was a very slight decrease in mobility in the lower part of her chest and diaphragm. (Record 90). At the time of trial, which began on January 9, 1956, Appellant claimed to be almost completely recovered.

At the trial, before the Honorable Martin M. Larson, the jury returned a verdict for Appellant in the sum of \$7,589.00 whereupon the court ruled upon a motion for a directed verdict which it had previously taken under advisement, and set aside the verdict and then dismissed the action.

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I

THERE WAS COMPETENT EVIDENCE TO GO TO THE JURY ON THE QUESTION OF NEGLIGENCE OF DR. HICKEN, AND UNLESS ALL REASONABLE MEN MUST DRAW THE SAME CONCLUSIONS FROM THE FACTS AS THEY ARE SHOWN THE COURT COMMITS ERROR IN DIRECTING A VERDICT.

Whatever classical, medical term might be given to Appellant's lung complications is immaterial, since it was not disputed that Appellant suffered pulmonary difficulties, and as a result thereof, was caused a very substantial amount of pain and suffer-

ing and a substantial financial loss. The sole question remains as to whether or not there was any evidence for the matter to go to the jury, as to whether or not Dr. Hicken was negligent in any particular, and whether such negligence the jury might reasonably find to have been a legal cause of Appellant's condition.

The negligence and carelessness charged by the Plaintiff and Appellant in this action did not necessarily imply a lack of skill or capacity, but simply a disregard of ordinary prudence. The negligence and carelessness of Dr. Hicken may be divided into two periods: First, in connection with the period involved in the hospitalization of the Appellant in the L.D.S. Hospital, and second, in connection with the period following her release from the Hospital and until August 20, 1954. In connection with the negligence charged in the first period, the standard of care came from the mouth of Dr. Hicken when he was called as an adverse witness. Such testimony is material. Plaintiff is entitled to any favorable testimony given.

Anderson vs. Sharp. 109 P.2d 1027

Huffman vs. Lindquist. 213 P.2d 106

Dr. Hicken testified that immediately following, and for some time after upper abdominal surgery, such as gall bladder operations, it is necessary to turn, cough and to induce deep breathing to prevent the onset of pulmonary complications. (Record 39). Dr. Hicken testified that he was familiar with the standard of care which physicians in this community render to their patients following upper abdominal

surgery. (Record 39). He testified that there were standing rules. "The patient is turned every two hours. The patient is encouraged to cough." (Record 39-40). He testified that this rule of having the patient turned and deep breathed every two hours, following upper abdominal surgery, was the standard in force in this community August 19, 1954 (Record 40 and 42); and that the two hour period is routine procedure at the L.D.S. Hospital.

There was evidence to go to the jury that the Appellant was not given the standard of care testified to by Dr. Hicken while in the Hospital.

The most critical period following upper abdominal surgery is when the patient is under sedation, and gall bladder surgery requires considerable sedatives for pain "because you are working high," (Record 50) and also because when the patient first returns from surgery, they are still under the effects of the anesthetic. (Record 216).

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