1956

Geraldine Huggins v. N. Frederick Hicken : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND SET ASIDE THE VERDICT, BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SHOW EITHER NEGLIGENCE, THE NATURE OF PLAINTIFF'S AILMENT, OR ANY CAUSAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THEM.

Since plaintiff's claim of negligence has been divided by her in her brief into two periods, the first consisting of the period from the time of surgery until hospital

discharge, and the second from hospital discharge until her departure from Utah seven days later, her claim will be discussed in the same division, and in the same order.

HOSPITALIZATION FOLLOWING SURGERY:

This period of time extends from the conclusion of surgery at 3:25 p.m. August 2, 1954 to plaintiff's discharge at noon, August 13, 1954. Plaintiff first contends that during the period immediately following surgery, the standard of medical care prevailing in this community and the routine procedure at L.D.S. Hospital required that the plaintiff be coughed, turned and encouraged to breathe deeply at two hour intervals. Plaintiff next contends, through the testimony of her cousin, Alta Huggins, and by reference to the hospital chart, that plaintiff did not receive this treatment.

However, it is undisputed that following surgery, seven post-operative orders were issued for the treatment of this patient, including the order to "turn, cough and encourage deep breathing and leg exercises." (Exhibit 21, p. 9). Alta Huggins conceded that such orders were given and were proper. It is therefore clear that this standard of medical care was followed by defendant and his responsibility to issue proper orders was fully discharged.

If plaintiff did not receive the treatment contemplated by the standard and by the rules of the hospital,

such failure was the responsibility of hospital personnel, and could not be attributable to the defendant, unless and until some fact occurred which, in the exercise of proper professional practice, should have put him on notice that his orders were not being followed, and he thereafter failed to remedy the situation.

Plaintiff has admitted that this is the law. The court so instructed the jury, by its instruction No. 19. Plaintiff did not except to this instruction and, under familiar doctrine, the principle is the law of this case. It is also the law generally. The rule is well stated by the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia, in *Hohenthal vs. Smith* (1940), 114 Fed. 2nd, 494, where it is said:

“ . . . where employees of the hospital are negligent in carrying out the surgeon's instructions as to treatment after the operation, the overwhelming weight of authority holds that the surgeon is not liable in the absence of a showing that he was negligent in giving the instructions or selecting the persons to carry them out, that he was present and could have avoided the injury by exercising due care, or that his special contract relative to the negligent employee was such as to make the doctrine of respondent superior applicable. . . . Part of the service furnished to the patient and charged for by the hospital is the assistance of nurses, interns and attendants in caring for the patient after the operation pursuant to instructions given by the operating surgeon. They perform the duty of their employer (the hospital) to the patient when they carry out the instructions of the doctor. . . . ”

Plaintiff, however, asserts that if defendant had conformed to accepted medical standards, he would have observed facts which would have put him on notice that his orders were not being followed by hospital personnel. In support of this contention, it is claimed that plaintiff's temperature and pulse rate increased during the night following surgery, and on the next day, to such an extent that defendant ought to have known, as a competent surgeon, that his orders were not being followed, or that his orders were insufficient.

The difficulty with this contention, however, is that there was no evidence that the increase in temperature and pulse was more than was to have been medically expected in the first hours following surgical treatment of cholecystitis, which is the medical term for plaintiff's illness.

Moreover, plaintiff's repeated assertion that plaintiff was not "turned," because that word appears infrequently upon the nurses' notes, which she asserts should have put the doctor on notice that his orders were being ignored, is completely refuted by other portions of the hospital record and the record of this trial. It is undisputed plaintiff was receiving repeated injections for pain, which were of the type that are given in the buttocks, which requires turning on one side or the other (R. 328). Further, it was not disputed, and, in fact, it is known by any person who has ever been hospitalized, that when a patient is "made comfortable," or given

“routine care,” or given a “bed bath,” that the patient is moved so that soothing lotions may be rubbed on the back, that bed linen is smoothed or changed or that bed clothes are changed (R. 217, 328).

It is further within common knowledge, and certainly within the knowledge of the doctors on a case, that when a patient is in pain, she will not remain absolutely still, as plaintiff seems to imply, but will turn and change her position of her own volition. Dr. Hicken so testified (R. 43).

Plaintiff asserts in her brief, page 20, that she was “turned” only four times in 43 hours, but the record shows that she was either turned, given a bed bath, given medication for pain, made comfortable, given routine care, catheterized, or received a rectal tube, on 18 occasions in that period, or an average of more than once each $2\frac{1}{2}$ hours, not including examination by doctors (Ex. 21, pp. 23, 24).

It is, therefore, clear that plaintiff’s claim that she was “turned” only when that word appeared on the hospital record, constitutes an unreasonable, improbable and improper inference from the facts in this record. The trial judge noted this defect in plaintiff’s case at the time of his decision. (R. 363).

On the morning of August 3rd, the first post-operative day, Dr. McAllister noted she was “doing well.” The next morning, her temperature was normal. Dr. Hicken

testified he was of the opinion that his orders were being carried out. No doctor ever testified that conformance to medical standards would have required Dr. Hicken to reach a different conclusion, under these circumstances.

There is, therefore, no showing that a competent doctor, conforming to medically accepted standards of treatment in post-operative gall bladder cases, would have been placed on notice that his orders were being ignored, or that such a doctor would have done more than the defendant did.

Beyond this, however, is the fact that there is absolutely no basis to be found in this record for the assertion by plaintiff, in her brief at page 20, paragraph numbered 2, that defendant failed to observe the elevation of pulse and temperature, or having noted them, failed to take remedial measures. The record shows, in Exhibit 21, pages 9 and 10, that the original doctor's orders were supplemented during this period by eight additional orders, entered in writing by four separate doctors. These new orders directed the administration of certain fluids, drugs and chemical compounds, together with the use of such apparatus as was required to facilitate their application. Plaintiff has not only failed to mention these orders, but failed to show, on trial, that they were improper or insufficient under prevailing medical standards of treatment for such conditions.

On this phase of the case, therefore, plaintiff did not uphold her burden of proof, which required her, under

long-established doctrine, to produce facts tending "affirmatively to show that the defendant . . . did not exercise such reasonable care, skill and diligence as ordinarily is exercised . . ." by skilled surgeons in Salt Lake City in the treatment of such cases. *Baxter vs. Snow*, 78 Utah 217, 2 P. 2nd 257.

Plaintiff has apparently now abandoned any claim that defendant or the hospital were negligent in the treatment of her extraordinary complications which appeared on the afternoon of August 4th. Her reason is clear, for the hospital chart (Exhibit 21) reveals that during the course of this treatment, and extending through the morning of August 6th, there were recorded 52 visits by nurses, and examinations or treatments by 8 separate doctors.

The next assertion of negligence relates to the period from August 6th to the date of discharge on August 13th. Plaintiff contends that, during that week, her symptoms of pain in the chest, rise and fall in temperature, and continued requirements of heavy sedation for pain, all indicated the need for further X-ray examination. Again, however, no evidence was offered or received that such symptoms as plaintiff displayed in this period would have required, under prevalent medical standards, that a competent physician undertake additional X-ray examination. Plaintiff impliedly recognizes this defect in her case by asserting in her brief that X-ray is such an accepted method of diagnosis that the need for its use

need not be established by expert evidence. The cases cited in support of this proposition contain correct principles of law in view of the facts in such cases. However, no case comparable to the present case has been cited in plaintiff's brief. While X-ray is of obvious assistance in many cases, such as in detecting the nature and extent of fractures, or the presence of foreign objects and tumorous masses, it cannot be said to be a matter of common knowledge or judicial notice that good medical practice requires a surgeon to use X-ray because his patient complains of pains after major surgery.

It must also be kept in mind that an X-ray was taken by a competent specialist in radiology on August 6, 1954, and had been interpreted by him as essentially normal. The record further shows without contradiction that the X-ray films were examined by Drs. Hicken and McAllister and that they concurred in the interpretation of the radiologist, Dr. Frederick.

Plaintiff's contention seems to be that one X-ray was not enough, and that defendant ought to be liable because he did not obtain more than one. A similar contention, in a fracture case in Idaho, was rejected by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals in the case of *Moore vs. Tremelling* (1935) 78 Fed. 2nd 821, where, as here, no evidence was produced by plaintiff that local medical standards required more than one X-ray. Without such evidence, the Court said, there is ". . . no proof that the appellant did not exercise such professional skill and

care as were reasonably to be expected in that locality.”

In *Boyce vs. Brown* (Arizona, 1938), 77 Pac. 2nd 455, plaintiff urged that it was negligence to fail to take an X-ray of an ankle, many years after the defendant had reduced a fracture by surgical open reduction. Plaintiff said such failure was “such obvious negligence that even a layman knows it to be a departure from a proper standard.” The Arizona Supreme Court did not agree, stating:

“It is true that most laymen know that the X-ray usually offers the best method of diagnosing physical changes of the interior organs of the body, and particularly of the skeleton, short of an actual opening of the body for ocular examination, but laymen cannot say that in all cases where there is some trouble with the internal organs that it is a departure from standard medical practice to fail to take an X-ray.”

Since plaintiff did not produce evidence from a competent medical practitioner that additional X-ray was required in order to conform to accepted practice, the jury should not have been allowed to speculate and should not have been allowed to substitute, in retrospect, its untrained and lay judgment for the training and experience of a qualified doctor, familiar with medical standards of care in this community.

CONVALESCENT PERIOD AFTER HOSPITAL DISCHARGE:

Plaintiff's final contention is that in the six day period following her discharge, while she was in con-

valescence at the home of her sister in Granger, Utah, Dr. Hicken failed "to apprise himself of or discover the seriousness of" plaintiff's "lung complications." Plaintiff in effect alleges a form of abandonment of his patient by the defendant. Plaintiff's proof, however, fails to support this charge in that there was no proof to show what defendant should have done that he did not do, except that plaintiff contends he should have visited her on August 16, 1954, when her sister requested him to come.

Plaintiff failed to establish by any medical evidence whatsoever that the daily telephone consultations with the defendant, or with one or more of his associates, and Dr. McAllister's visit and examination on August 17th, were insufficient for the defendant to apprise himself of plaintiff's condition.

The United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia, in a leading case decided in 1948, was confronted with the same plea by a plaintiff who alleged that the defendant doctor had failed to inform himself as to the condition of his patient, and had failed to call upon her when asked to do so. Justice Stephens, speaking for the Court, ruled:

"... it is not shown that such daily examination was required in the exercise of proper professional care. Nor is it shown that Dr. Lawson could not properly, in view of the nature of the ailment, inform himself, as he did . . . through

frequent telephoned reports of Mrs. Rodgers' condition after she returned home . . ."

The Court held that the case, which involved care of a postnatal breast condition, involved

" . . . a question of the merits of a diagnosis and scientific treatment. This cannot be determined by a lay jury without the aid of expert opinion . . ."

Finally the Court rejected the argument, which is also made in the case at bar by plaintiff, that the presence of pain required the doctor to act. Proof of pain for an extended period, without more, does not evidence neglect, according to the Court, and there was no evidence that due professional care required the administration of sedatives. *Rodgers vs. Lawson* (1948) D. C., 170 Fed. 2nd 157.

Further, plaintiff has completely failed to show, as we believe is required in a case of alleged abandonment, that the results which the plaintiff encountered were otherwise than would have been the case if the alleged abandonment had not occurred. This principle was recently affirmed by this Court in stating the proof which should have been made by a plaintiff in a case of alleged abandonment. *Spendlove vs. Georges*, 4 Utah 2nd 393, 295 P. 2nd 336.

Beyond this, however, is another glaring weakness in plaintiff's case—a weakness recognized by the trial

court when he dismissed the action (R. 361). Even if there had been competent evidence of the medical standards which defendant is alleged to have breached, there was no evidence upon which a jury could properly find a causal relationship between the breach and plaintiff's ultimate physical condition.

A jury should not be allowed to speculate that an unidentified physical ailment proximately resulted from the doctor not having done more than he did in his treatment. This principle has been recognized by this Court repeatedly.

In *Anderson vs. Nixon* (1943), 104 Utah 262, 139 P. (2d) 216, the patient had developed osteomyelitis and he alleged that the defendant doctor negligently failed to recognize that condition and negligently failed to treat him for it properly, in that he should have ordered blood transfusions. Under the evidence this Court held that there was sufficient evidence for a jury to consider on the question of whether or not the defendant was negligent in failing to apprise himself of the plaintiff's condition by the use of available blood tests.

However, on the question of the causal relationship between this failure and the end result, the Court stated:

“There was no expert evidence in this case that if defendant had done these things at that time the condition which caused the eventual amputation of plaintiff's leg could have been avoided. Osteomyelitis being a disease the cause

and cure of which is peculiarly within the knowledge of medical men and not a matter of common knowledge, it is necessary to have expert testimony on the effect of the negligence of a doctor on the end result. . . . In the absence of such expert testimony there is nothing upon which a jury can base its finding on the proximate cause of the injury. A jury may not conjecture or speculate, but must have substantial evidence upon which to base a verdict."

To the same effect are both earlier and later Utah cases. *Edwards vs. Clark* (1938), 96 Utah 121, 83 P. (2d) 1021; *Jackson vs. Colston* (1949), 116 Utah 295, 209 P. (2d) 566.

The principle announced in these cases should be even more forcefully applied where, as in the present case, plaintiff has not only failed to show causation, but has failed to establish or define, except by vague generalities, the injury which allegedly resulted.

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